FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/18/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

102655-2

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/18/2023 11:45 AM

Court of Appeal Cause No. 83978-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BECKY HOANG, et al.,)
Petitioners,)
VS.)
TRANG HUYNH NGUYEN,)
Respondent.)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Randy Baker, WSBA No. 27421 Attorney at Law 600 N. 36th Street, Suite 406 Seattle WA, 98103 Tel. 206-325-3995 FAX 206-681-9991 Email rpb@bakerappeal.com

Attorney for Petitioners Becky Hoang, Nhan Hoang, husband and wife and their marital community

I. INTRODUCTION

The object of this petition is to resolve a current lack of clarity concerning the range of cases to which the Mortgage Broker Practices Act (hereinafter "MBPA") is intended to apply. Like the closely related Consumer Protection Act (hereinafter "CPA"), the MBPA was enacted to protect a vital public interest by preventing the intrusion of unfair and deceptive commercial practices into the market.

In this case, however, Division I found that the MBPA applies to petitioners' conduct, even though it clearly posed no risk to the public, since it arose out of the unique circumstances of the parties' relationship, and was unlikely to be repeated. The court reached this conclusion through literal application of terms in the MBPA, without regard to the statute's context. In contrast, Division II, in Nationscapital Mortg. Corp. v. State Dept. of Financial Institutions, determined the provisions of the MBPA should not be so construed, and rather that their application must reflect the legislative intent underlying the statute, which was to prevent the intrusion of unfair or deceptive practices into the market, not to remedy individual injuries.

The inconsistency between Division I's application of the statute in this case and that of Division II in *Nationscapital*

demonstrates the need for this Court to clarify the scope of the MBPA. Moreover, to effect its public interest objective, the MBPA imposes burdens on parties found to have violated its provisions, treble damages and attorney fees, which typically are not imposed in cases in which defendant causes harm only to individual parties. This renders the clarification particularly important, since in its absence, mistaken application of the statute to entirely private disputes can result in substantial and unwarranted burdens on defendants, as in this case, in which its application to an entirely private dispute has resulted in imposition of more than \$100,000 of liability on the defendants above that which would have been warranted were their obligation simply to have made the plaintiff whole.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners-Defendants, Becky Hoang and Nhan Hoang, and the marital community comprised thereof, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part III, below

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners ask this Court to review the decision by Division One in *Trang Huynh Nguyen v. Becky Hoang*, et al., No. 83978-1-I

filed September 11, 2023. After ordering Respondent Nguyen to file an answer, the Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' motion for reconsideration on November 17, 2023.

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-12. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is at page A-13. A copy of the order awarding attorney fees and costs is at pages A-14 through A-16.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did Division One err in holding that the Mortgage Broker Practices Act, in contrast to the Consumer Protection Act, also applies to conduct unique to the relationship between the plaintiff and defendant, rather than solely to conduct affecting the broader public?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Following a bench trial in Snohomish County Superior Court before the Honorable Richard T. Okrent, judgment was entered against Petitioners and Defendants Becky Hoang, Nhan Hoang and their marital community and for Plaintiff and Respondent Trang Huynh Nguyen. CP 32. The court found defendants had engaged in two acts of fraud, three acts of conversion, a breach of fiduciary duty

pertaining to a joint venture agreement, a violation of the MBPA and, thereby, of the CPA. CP 28-21.

The court imposed judgment in plaintiff's favor of \$422,236.85, which included an award under the CPA of \$75,802.80 in attorney fees and treble damages of \$25,000. CP 31-32.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment for Respondent Nguyen on September 9, 2023, and awarded additional attorney fees under the CPA for litigation of the appeal of \$27,618.50. Appendix at A-11-A-12, A-16. Following its ordering Respondent Nguyen to file a response, the court denied Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration on November 17, 2023. Appendix at A-13.

Statement of Facts¹

Plaintiff Trang Nguyen moved to the United States from Vietnam in 2015, and has a limited ability to read and write English. RP 13, 15, 97. Her education stopped at the 11th grade; she has held

^{1.} While the case involved several incidents, petitioners here summarize only facts material to the issue raised this petition.

different jobs while in the United States and she manages her own finances.² RP 13, 96-98.

Nguyen met Petitioner Becky Hoang while they both were students in nail school. RP 15. Hoang spoke with Nguyen in Vietnamese, and she spoke Vietnamese well.³ RP 61.

In approximately August 2019 Nguyen received a gift of \$430,000 from her family to buy a house for herself and her son to live in. RP 15-16. Nguyen planned to purchase a small home, but Hoang recommended that she buy a large house instead, put 20% as down payment, and finance the remainder. RP 21. Hoang told her that with a big home she could rent out the extra space, and that this could help pay the mortgage and give Nguyen time to take care of her son. RP 22

Hoang offered to help Nguyen find a home and to finance it.

RP 20. Nguyen knew from nail school that Hoang was a loan officer and could help with the purchase of a home. RP 75.

^{2.} While Petitioner Becky Hoang's testimony materially differed from that of Respondent Nguyen, since the trial court did not find Hoang to be credible, this statement of facts summarizes solely Ms. Nguyen's account. See CP 21.

^{3.} Unless otherwise specified, references to Hoang are to Becky Hoang.

Nguyen found a house in Lynwood, WA. RP 22-23. Hoang arranged the financing, and through her firm and alter ego NB Capital, she took a \$4,824 loan origination fee. RP 333-334. Nguyen paid a total of \$144,232.16 towards the purchase of the house. RP 25-26, 29, 32. Nguyen had trusted Hoang to manage the paperwork for the transaction. RP 25.

Hoang advised Nguyen to add the name of her husband, Defendant Nhan Hoang, to the purchase of a home, because she lacked sufficient income to obtain a bank loan. RP 17, 19. His name was placed on the loan application. RP 19. In the course of securing the financing, Nguyen went to Hoang's office at a mortgage firm on one or more occasions to sign papers. RP 410-411, 672-673.

Nguyen did not agree to give Hoang anything in exchange for helping her to buy the house. RP 120. Nguyen stated that Hoang was a trusting friend and that "she was just helping me out of the goodness of her heart, because I know that she goes to church, so you know, she's being helpful, helping me in that way." RP 120.

Nguyen said she thought she owned the house. RP 32. When Nguyen came to take possession of the house on closing, Hoang told her that she was not eligible to be the owner, which was why Nhan

Hoang was listed as the owner. RP 32-33. Hoang told Nguyen it would take two years before her credit would render her eligible to own the house, and at that time it would be transferred to her name. RP 33. Nguyen stated that Lien, her friend, upon discovering Nguyen's name was not on the Lynnwood house, also told Nguyen that usually after two years, if she works, has good credit and a stable income, she would be able to have her name on the property. RP 123.

Nguyen signed an option to purchase the house in two years for \$610,000 and subsequently made monthly payments of \$3,718 when she moved in, which covered the mortgage. RP 35-36; Plaintiff's Exhibit 20, pp. 2-3. Nguyen testified that she did not recognize the option agreement and that Hoang had not told her she would pay \$610,000 to own the house. RP 37. The option stated Nguyen was to pay \$35,000, but she did not pay that money and Hoang did not ask her to. RP 38.

The court found that the Hoangs had used Nguyen's money to buy Nhan Hoang a house, and that this amounted to fraud and conversion. CP 24. It further found that in arranging the financing for this transaction Becky Hoang had acted as a Loan Originator within the meaning the the MBPA, and thereby violated the MBPA, and

consequently the CPA, by breaching her obligations of honesty, good faith, full disclosure and other fiduciary obligations. CP 30. The court found this violation to have resulted in a loss to Nguyen of \$144,232.16. CP 30.

VI. ARGUMENT

IN CONTRAST TO DIVISION TWO, DIVISION ONE DETERMINED THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT UNDERLYING THE MBPA BY DISREGARDING THE CONTEXT IN WHICH IT WAS ENACTED, AND CONSEQUENTLY FOUND IT APPLICABLE TO CONDUCT HAVING NO IMPACT ON THE PUBLIC

The decision of Division One in this case holding the range of practices within the scope of the MBPA includes personal disputes with no bearing on the public interest conflicts with the determination by Division II in *Nationscapital Mortg. Corp. v. State Dept. of Financial Institutions*, 133 Wn.App. 723, 741, 137 P.3d 78 (2006) that the MBPA was enacted to avoid "the repetition of harmful conduct or activity affecting the broader public." Particularly since to advance that objective, the MBPA imposes the otherwise unwarranted burden of treble damages and attorney fees on parties found liable under its provisions, it is important the MBPA not be applied to circumstances

to which the Legislature did not intend it apply. See RCW 19.86.090, 19.146.100.

Division One found that application of the MBPA is not limited to conduct that affects the broader public interest, as is the CPA, because, in contrast to the CPA, the "plain language of the MBPA has no such requirement." A-10. In so ruling, Division I applied a method of statutory construction this Court rejected in *Department of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Application of that method entails consideration of related statutes and the statutory scheme as a whole, only if the language of the statute is ambiguous. *Id.* at 10. The *Department of Ecology* court explained that approach to statutory construction rests "on theories of language and meaning, now discredited, which held that words have inherent or fixed meanings." *Id.* at 11 (internal quotation and citation omitted).

In its place, the court adopted an approach to determining plain meaning of a statute that:

> requires courts to consider legislative purposes or policies appearing on the face of the statute as part of the statute's context. In addition, background facts of which judicial

notice can be taken are properly considered as part of the statute's context because presumably the legislature also was familiar with them when it passed the statute. Reference to a statute's context to determine its plain meaning also includes examining closely related statutes, because legislators enact legislation in light of existing statutes.

Id. at 11-12.

Applying this method, the Department of Ecology court rejected a developer's reliance on RCW 90.44.050's literal assertion that "any withdrawal" of groundwater for domestic uses of 5,000 gallons or less per day was exempt from the permit requirements, and therefore in developing a residential subdivision that would entail the creation of multiple wells, each proposed to withdraw less than 5,000 gallons of water per day, it was exempt from the permit requirement, even though in aggregate the several wells thereby created would withdraw more than that amount. Id. at 15-16. Considering that language in the context of provisions in the statute concerning permits for "construction" of wells and other means to withdraw water, and related statutes protecting existing rights and the public interest, the court concluded the legislature's intent to was to exclude such developments from the statutory exemption. Id. at 13-16; see also Washington Public Ports Association v. Department of Revenue, 148

Wn.2d 637, 645, 62 P.3d 462 (2003) ("[t]he 'plain meaning' rule includes not only the ordinary meaning of the words, but the underlying legislative purposes and closely related statutes to determine the proper meaning of the statute").

Following this contextual method of statutory construction, in Nationscapital Mortg. Corp. v. State Dept. of Financial Institutions, supra, 133 Wn.App. at 739-742 Division two rejected the contention that language in the MBPA authorizing the review of business records "for the purposes of investigating complaints," meant such review may not extend to records concerning possible violations of the MBPA that were not the subject of complaints. Explaining "[w]e discern plain meaning not only from the provision in question but also from closely related statutes and the underlying legislative purposes," the court observed the legislature enacted the MBPA "to promote honesty and fair dealing with citizens and to preserve public confidence in the lending and real estate community' RCW 19.146.005 [and that] the legislature declared any violation of the Act is a per se an unfair or deceptive act or practice and an unfair method of competition for purposes of the Consumers Protection Act (CPA), chapter 19.86 RCW." Id. at 736, 740.

Accordingly, *Nationscapital* relied on cases construing the CPA in explaining the legislature's designation of violations of the MBPA to constitute conduct prohibited by the Consumer Protection Act:⁴

By declaring violations of the Act to be per se unfair or deceptive acts or practices, the legislature indicated its concern with deterring deceptive conduct before injury occurred. Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeway Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 785, 719 P.2d 778 (1986). And following our case law on the CPA, a public interest declaration suggests that the legislature is not primarily concerned with remedying individual harm but, rather, with avoiding the repetition of harmful conduct or activity affecting the broader public. Hangman Ridge, 105 Wn.2d at 790 ("it is the likelihood that additional plaintiffs have been or will be injured in exactly the same fashion that changes a factual pattern from a private dispute to one that affects the public interest").

> Nationscapital Mortg. Corp. v. State Dept. of Financial Institutions, supra, 133 Wn.App. at 741.

The distinction between between wrongful acts that are not injurious to the public interest and those which are has been illustrated

^{4.} The propriety of employing the contextual approach to ascertaining the plain meaning of the MBPA is underscored by the statute's express qualification of its operative terms, including "Loan Originator" and "Borrower," with the mandate that they not be applied where "the context clearly requires otherwise." See RCW 19.146.010; see also State v. Morley, 134 Wn.2d 588, 596-598, 952 P.2d 167 (1998); Residents Opposed to Kittitas Turbines v. State Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council, 165 Wn.2d 275, 306-307, 197 P.3d 1153 (2008).

in several cases construing the CPA. In *Behnke v. Ahrens*, 172 Wn.App. 281, 285-287, 292-296, 294 P.3d 729 (2012) in which a lawyer breached his duty to disclose to his client his substantial business connection to the tax shelter operator he had recommended to the client, the court affirmed a grant of summary judgment for the defendant on a CPA claim, explaining "the concern of Washington courts has been to rule out those deceptive acts and practices that are unique to the relationship between plaintiff and defendant."

In *Burns v. McClinton*, 135 Wn.App. 285, 290-291, 305-306, 143 P.3d 630 (2006), citing the absence of any evidence the defendant's other clients had been deceived or that the defendant's deception in this case was capable of being replicated with other clients, the court of appeals held the accountant's improper use of the "carte blanche" a client had given him over his account to take fees in the amount \$2,500 per month, rather than the agreed upon \$1,500 per month agreed upon with the client, was beyond the purview of the CPA. Addressing the absence of evidence the defendant's deception in this case was capable of being replicated with other clients, the court noted:

The relationship between Burns and McClinton was unusual, and not only because it included the element of personal friendship. Burns gave McClinton a very high degree of management control over the voluminous details of his personal finances without reading the reports and summaries provided to him.

Id. at 306.

It is precisely acts unique to the relationship between Ms. Nguyen and Ms. Hoang that underlay the conduct on which the court based its determination Ms. Hoang violated the Act. Nguyen did not encounter Hoang in the course of seeking to purchase a house, but rather a year before that as a fellow student at nail school. RP 15, 104-105. Indeed, Nguyen, who is Vietnamese, testified that she did not have other friends at the time of the home purchase, that her English was very limited, and that she was able to communicate in Vietnamese with Hoang. RP 15, 61, 97, 681-682.

Nguyen testified that she understood that in facilitating her obtaining a loan to purchase the house Defendant Hoang was acting as a friend: "because in terms of friendship, she came over, and ever since, we got to know each other over a course of a year. You know, she was a trusting friend, so pretty much I put all my trust into her." RP 120. She understood Hoang would receive no other consideration

for assisting with the loan. RP 120. Nguyen explained her lack of familiarity with a documents pertaining to the transaction was a function of her limited English competence and her having trusted Hoang to manage those documents. RP 25.

It is difficult to imagine circumstances more "unique to the relationship of plaintiff and defendant," more differing from the typical circumstances under which mortgage brokers operate and less likely to be repeated in other cases than these. Accordingly, this case presents an ideal vehicle through which the Court may clearly delimit the scope of the MBPA, and thereby clarify an important legal question and assure that parties otherwise acting improperly in private matters, not be unfairly burdened with remedies intended to prevent harm to the broader public, rather than solely to make individual parties whole.

VII. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should accept review of the decision below.