FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/17/2024 2:05 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 102655-2

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE WASHINGTON

BECKY HOANG and NHAN HOANG, and the marital community comprised thereof,

Defendants/Appellants,

v.

TRANG HUYNH NGUYEN, an individual,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Lawrence S. Glosser, WSBA #25098
Ryanne S. Mathisen, WSBA #56000
AHLERS, CRESSMAN, & SLEIGHT PLLC
1325 Fourth Avenue
Suite 1850
Seattle, Washington 98101
Larry.glosser@acslawyers.com
Ryanne.mathisen@acslawyers.com
Telephone: (206) 287-9900
Facsimile: (206) 934-1139
Attorneys for Trang Huynh Nguyen

314389.2 -1-

# **

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

Ms. Hoang advised Ms. Nguyen that she should use part of her funds as a down payment on the home and should obtain a loan for the remaining balance. *Id.* On numerous occasions, Ms. Nguyen met Ms. Hoang at Ms. Hoang's office, where they discussed acquiring and financing a home. *Id.*; FF 6. Ms. Nguyen believed that Ms. Hoang was acting in her role as a loan originator. *Id.* 

# B. Lynnwood Home

Ms. Nguyen found a home that she liked in Lynnwood, Washington (the "Lynnwood Home"). *Id.*; FF 7. She showed Ms. Hoang the property and expressed interest in purchasing it. *Id.* 

314389.2 -7

Ms. Hoang advised Ms. Nguyen that Ms. Nguyen did not have sufficient credit to secure a loan – despite the fact that Ms. Hoang never prepared an application or presented Ms. Nguyen's request to a traditional residential lender based on the large cash down payment that Ms. Nguyen had available. *Id.*; FF 8. Ms. Nguyen was unable to find a co-signer, and Ms. Hoang volunteered that her husband, Nhan Hoang, would be willing to co-sign a loan. *Id.*; FF 9.

The purchase price of the home was \$603,000. *Id*; FF 10. Ms. Nguyen withdrew \$15,000 and transferred the amount to the escrow company for the initial deposit. *Id*; FF 11. Ms. Nguyen subsequently wire transferred an additional \$129,232.16 to the escrow company for the balance of funds needed to close the sale. *Id*. at 8; FF 12. At closing, "NB Capital Assets" was paid \$4,824.00 as a loan origination fee; this fee was never disclosed to Ms. Nguyen. *Id*.; FF 13. "NB Capital Assets" is an alter-ego of Mr. and Ms. Hoang. *Id*.; FF 14. Ms. Hoang never gave any of the purchase and sale documents for the Lynnwood Home to

-8-

Ms. Nguyen, nor did she ever disclose that Mr. Hoang was not a co-signer but rather the sole purchaser. *Id.*; FF 15.

On or about November 21, 2019, the Lynnwood Home was transferred to Mr. Hoang, and Ms. Hoang provided a Quit Claim Deed to her husband, waiving any interest Ms. Hoang had in the Lynnwood Home. *Id.*; FF 16. All of the money for the down payment and the closing costs came from Ms. Nguyen for a property to which Mr. Hoang was the sole owner. *Id*; FF 17. The balance came from a hard money loan with an interest rate of 9.25% and monthly payments of \$3,718.50 to cover interest only. *Id*; FF 18. The entire \$482,400.00 matured on December 1, 2020. *Id.* After Ms. Nguyen moved into the Lynnwood Home, Ms. Hoang presented her with a Lease and Option Agreement and informed Ms. Nguyen that she was not an owner of the property. Id.; FF 19. The rent that Ms. Nguyen was required to pay was the exact amount as the monthly loan payments. *Id.* at 9; FF 20.

-9-

## **C.** Everett Property

In late 2019 or early 2020, Ms. Hoang proposed that Ms. Nguyen use more of the money to purchase an investment property. *Id.*; FF 26. Ms. Hoang suggested Ms. Nguyen purchase a property located in Everett, WA (the "Everett Home"). *Id.* FF 27.

Ms. Hoang asked Ms. Nguyen to sign a Joint Venture Agreement ("JVA") for the Everett Home. *Id.*; FF 28. The terms of the JVA were unconscionable; for example, Ms. Nguyen, while funding the entire venture, was only given 15% interest. *Id.* at 9-10; FF 28-31.

On February 6, 2020, Ms. Hoang prepared and had Ms. Nguyen sign a withdrawal slip from Ms. Nguyen's bank for the amount of \$150,000. *Id.* at 10; FF 32. \$74,174.71 of this amount was used for the down payment on the Everett Home, but the remaining \$75,825.29 of the funds were never accounted for. *Id.* at 11; FF 39-40. The remaining balance for the Everett Home was paid through a hard money loan with an interest rate

-10-

of 12%. *Id.* FF 42. Ms. Nguyen was the only "Borrower" for a five-month loan of \$408,861.15 with no mentions of a guarantor, or any other person or entity responsible for that loan. *Id.*; FF 43.

### D. Procedural History

In October 2020, Ms. Nguyen filed a lawsuit against the Hoangs on the basis of fraud, conversion, violation of the MBPA, violation of the CPA, and a constructive trust. CP at 47-57. The matter proceeded to a bench trial in December 2021-January 2022. Following the trial, the trial court made findings of fact and conclusions of law and entered judgment in favor of Ms. Nguyen against the Hoangs. CP at 5-17, 20.

Mr. Hoang and Ms. Hoang appealed the decision of the trial court. In an unpublished opinion filed on September 11, 2023 (the "Opinion"), the Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the trial court and found that "[t]he trial court did not err in concluding the Hoang was a loan originator." Opinion at 9. The Court of Appeals also found that "[t]he trial court did not err in concluding that the Hoangs' actions violated the MBPA, and thus

314389.2 -11-

the CPA." Opinion at 11. The Court of Appeals remanded the matter to the trial court for the limited task of correction of an undisputed \$22 clerical error in the judgment amount. The Hoangs moved for reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals denied.

The Hoangs now seek review by this Court through their Petition for Review.

#### IV. REASONS TO DECLINE REVIEW

Review of the Court of Appeals opinion here is discretionary. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), this Court will only accept a petition for review if it meets one or more of the following criteria:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

314389.2 -12-

The Hoangs' petition for review meets none of the above criteria. No conflict exists between the unpublished Division One opinion and a decision of this Court or a published Division Two case. No question of constitutional law is presented. And, as evidenced by the unpublished nature of the Division One opinion, the Hoangs' petition for review does not present an issue of substantial public interest, especially where clarity already exists as to the scope of the MBPA.

# A. No Conflict Exists Between the Unpublished Division One Opinion and a Published Decision of this Court.

In reaching its conclusion that the plain language of the MBPA does not require a plaintiff to "establish that the act or practice is injurious to the public interest" to support a *per se* violation of the CPA, the Court of Appeals relied on the plain language found in RCW 19.146.005 (declaring legislative finding that "brokering of residential real estate loans substantially affects the public interest") and RCW 19.146.100 (making a violation of the MBPA a *per se* violation of the CPA). The interpretation of both of these provisions by the Court of

314389.2 -13-

Appeals is in line with the well-established principles of statutory interpretation for interpreting plain language, as such analysis begins not with tools of statutory interpretation but "with the plain language employed by the legislature." *Cent. Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Airport Inv. Co.*, 186 Wn.2d 336, 346, 376 P.3d 372 (2016). Where the language in a statute is unambiguous, courts "give effect to that language and that language alone because [courts] presume the legislature says what it means and means what it says." *Id*.

Contrary to the assertions by the Hoangs, the Division One Opinion did not depart from the rules of statutory interpretation regarding plain meaning set forth in *State of Washington Department of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4, 10 (2002). The approach adopted by *Department of Ecology*, provides that "the plain meaning is still derived from what the Legislature has said in its enactments, but that meaning is discerned from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent

-14-

about the provision in question." *Id.* (emphasis added). Stated another way, when determining the plain meaning of a statutory provision in the absence of ambiguity, courts look only to other related statutes to the extent such statutes "disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." Only where ambiguity exists after looking at the plain language does the court look to other canons of statutory construction. *Id.* 

Here, the broader analysis as to overall legislative intent and legislative history, as found in *Nationscapital* and relied on by the Hoangs, is only reached if the applicable portion of the statute is found to be ambiguous. Here, the Hoangs attempt to apply broad canons of statutory interpretation to claim that the legislature did not mean what it said when it declared that <u>any</u> violation of the MBPA is a *per se* violation of the CPA under RCW 19.146.100 and in its definitions of "loan originator" and "borrower" under RCW 19.146.010. Because the legislature was clear in making violations of the MBPA *per se* violations of the CPA, the Hoangs' reliance on *Behnke v. Ahrens*, 172 Wn. App.

314389.2 -15-

281, 294 P.3d 729 (2012), and *Burns v. McClinton*, 135 Wn. App. 285, 143 P.3d 630 (2006), is entirely misplaced as those claims were brought under the CPA, not the MBPA.

As to the Hoangs' assertion that the legislature did not intend for the definitions of "loan originator" and "borrower" under RCW 19.146.010 to extend to Ms. Hoang in the context of this case, the Hoangs' argument is premised on the preamble to the definition section of the MBPA, which provides that the definitions apply "unless the context clearly requires otherwise" (the "MBPA Preamble"). However, the Hoangs misinterpret this common statutory provision, claiming it requires an extra fact-based context exception by attempting to apply the intent and policy behind the CPA to interpret the meaning of a definitional provision, which disregards the rules of plain language interpretation set forth in *Department of Ecology* and its progeny.

Rather, courts look to similar provisions to ascertain meaning, and here, preambles to statutory definitions sections similar to the MBPA Preamble are common and relate to the

-16-

context found in the statutory provisions themselves—not relating to factual context that may exist when applying a definition. Some examples, not exhaustive by any means, of other statutes containing similar preambles are as follows: RCW 18.54.010 ("Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the terms used in this chapter take their meanings as follows:"); RCW 43.80.100 ("The definitions in this section apply throughout this chapter unless the context clearly indicates otherwise."); RCW 50.22.010 ("As used in this chapter, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:"); RCW 64.44.010 ("The words and phrases defined in this section shall have the following meanings when used in this chapter unless the context clearly indicates otherwise."); RCW 70.28.008 ("The definitions in this section apply throughout this chapter unless the context clearly requires otherwise:"); RCW 79A.30.010 ("Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the definitions in this section apply throughout this chapter."); RCW 80.60.010 ("The definitions in

-17-

this section apply throughout this chapter unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.").

The above statutory preambles are substantially similar in affect when compared to the MBPA Preamble, which provides as follows: "[u]nless the context clearly requires otherwise, the definitions in this section apply throughout this chapter." RCW 19.146.010. Notwithstanding the presence of numerous statutes containing substantially similar preambles as to the MBPA Preamble, the Hoangs fail to cite to a single case interpreting an analogous statutory preamble provision to add an additional layer of contextual analysis when applying a statutory definition. The absence of such supporting authority for the Hoangs' interpretation has a simple explanation—the interpretation is wrong and does not fit the plain language used.

Turning to the plain language itself, the MBPA Preamble sets up a logical binary, by default the definitions contained in RCW 19.146.010 apply throughout the MBPA except where "the context clearly requires otherwise[.]" Put another way, a

314389.2 -18-

definition either applies, or it does not. Examples of statutory context that clearly provide that certain MBPA definitions do not apply can be found in RCW 19.146.020, by which the legislature set forth numerous exclusions from the MBPA as a whole. One such example includes RCW 19.146.020(1)(c), which covers instances where an attorney may perform mortgage broker or loan originator services. Under the definitions found in RCW 19.146.010, attorneys providing services similar to those of mortgage brokers or loan originators may technically meet the statutory definitions, but the statutory context provided by the exclusions under RCW 19.146.020(1)(c) "clearly requires" that attorneys meeting the requirements in RCW 19.146.020(1)(c) are excluded from the applicability of the definitions found in RCW 19.146.010. Notably, the Hoangs do not anchor their contextbased exclusion arguments in any of the statutory exclusions found in RCW 19.146.020. Accordingly, rejection of the Hoangs' arguments by the Court of Appeals in the Opinion was appropriate and in line with the published opinions of this Court.

314389.2 - 19 -

# B. No Conflict Exists Between the Division One Opinion and the Division Two Opinion, *Nationscapital*.

The Hoangs attempt to invoke the legislative intent behind the Washington Consumer Protection Act in arguing for a carve-out to the MBPA, which fails to follow the well-established rules of statutory construction. In arguing that the legislature did not mean what it said in RCW 19.146.005 and RCW 19.146.100 making a violation of the MBPA a *per se* CPA violation, Hoangs rely on RCW 19.86.090.

Yet *Nationscapital* does not support the interpretation argued by the Hoangs. *Nationscapital* arose out of findings of an administrative law judge concerning action brought by the Department of Financial Institutions ("DFI") against a lender. In that case, Nationscapital argued that DFI conducted an overbroad investigation that included loan transactions that were not subject to any consumer complaints. In the Hoangs' attempt

314389.2 -20 –

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The standard of review in *Nationscapital* was based on deference to agency interpretations. *Nationscapital*, 133 Wn. App at 737-38.

to apply *Nationscapital* here, they conflate that court's analysis as to the scope of DFI's investigative powers with the applicability of the *per se* statutory provision within the MBPA.

In fact, *Nationscapital* actually supports Nguyen's position that MBPA violations properly trigger the CPA.

As stated *Nationscapital* in *dicta*:

Nationscapital's construction of RCW 19.146.235 would not further the legislature's purpose of promoting honesty and fair dealing or preserving public confidence in the lending and real estate community. Under Nationscapital's interpretation, DFI would have to turn a blind eye to violations where no consumer specifically complained about them and address only those complaints brought by individual consumers. Such a narrow focus on individual complaints is contrary to the legislative declaration that the business of residential mortgage brokers affects the public interest and that violations of the Act implicate the CPA.<sup>2</sup>

When the legislature has enacted a *per se* violation of the Consumer Protection Act, as is the case here, there is no need for the Court to establish the "public interest" factor in when finding

314389.2 -21 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nationscapital, 133 Wn. App. at 741 (emphasis added).

the *per se* violation of the MBPA has occurred, as it is self-executing.<sup>3</sup> The Opinion properly rejected the arguments as to a contextual exception to the MBPA through the CPA.

When analyzing the plain language of a statutory provision, the language in related statutes is referenced to the extent such statutes "disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." *Dep't of Ecology*, 146 Wn.2d at 11.

Here, the Hoangs' reliance on *Nationscapital Mortgage*Corporation v. State Department of Financial Institutions
reveals that their argument uses canons of statutory interpretation
for ambiguous provisions, rather than being based on proper
application of the rules for statutory interpretation of

314389.2 -22 –

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Violations of chapter—Application of consumer protection act. The legislature finds that the practices governed by this chapter are matters vitally affecting the public interest for the purpose of applying the consumer protection act, chapter 19.86 RCW. Any violation of this chapter is not reasonable in relation to the development and preservation of business and is an unfair or deceptive act or practice and unfair method of competition in the conduct of trade or commerce in violation of RCW 19.86.020. Remedies provided by chapter 19.86 RCW are cumulative and not exclusive." RCW 19.146.100.

unambiguous plain language. *See Nationscapital* 133 Wn. App. at 743. While legislative intent in surrounding statutes is used to interpret the plain meaning of words used, the Hoangs attempt to use this legislative intent to claim the legislature did not mean what it said and that violations of the MBPA are not always injurious to the public interest.

However, even if one were to look past all of the aforementioned legal infirmities in the Hoangs' interpretation of the MBPA Preamble, the Hoangs' interpretation ignores the very meaning, context—and exceptions—supplied within the definitions section itself. Take for example the definition of a "loan originator." RCW 19.146.010(11)(a) and (b) define circumstances where one would meet the definition of a loan originator, while RCW 19.146.010(11)(c), (d), and (e) define circumstances where one would not meet the definition of a loan originator. If the legislature had intended to add a friends or acquaintances exception for loan originators, as the Hoangs appear to argue for, the legislature clearly knew how to create

-23

such exceptions and chose not to. As such, the Hoangs' legally erroneous interpretation of the MBPA Preamble was appropriately rejected by the Court of Appeals.

### V. CONCLUSION

This Court should reject the Hoangs' attempt to circumvent the public interest declaration and *per se* establishment and further deny the petition for review for failure to demonstrate any of the criteria under RAP 13.4(b). No conflict exists between the unpublished Division One opinion and a decision of this Court or a published Division Two case. No question of constitutional law is presented. And, as evidenced by the unpublished nature of the Division One opinion, the Hoangs' petition for review does not present an issue of substantial public interest, especially where clarity already exists as to the scope of the MBPA.

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